RECEIVED

Jun 26 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001494

Charleston SC Property Holdings, LLC, Hanahan SC Property Holdings, LLC, and Michael
Flanagan, Receiver.....Respondents,

v.

Rittenberg OP, LLC, Hanahan OP, LLC, Goldner Management, LLC, SC Two
OP Holdings, LLC, and Samuel Goldner.....Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Christopher T. Brumback
BRUMBACK & LANGLEY, LLC
531 South Main Street, Suite 307
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 414-9097
chris@brumbacklangley.com
Attorneys for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. The trial court committed an error of law by prematurely terminating Lessees' leasehold rights to the Demised Premises where the merits of the underlying breach of lease claim are disputed and there has been neither a trial nor a determination of the merits of the parties' claims and defenses.

2. In deciding the Receiver's Lease Termination Motion, which necessarily disturbed the status quo as established at the time the receivership was approved, the trial courts failure to 1) compare the interests of the parties and whether the requested action would preserve the status quo or cause substantial injury, 2) examine the merits of the underlying claims, and 3) assess the time in the receivership's life at which the motion was being made constituted an abuse of discretion that resulted in the court erroneously granting the termination of the Master Lease.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises from a dispute concerning a June 14, 2021 Master Lease Agreement between Appellants Hanahan OP, LLC (individually “Hanahan OP”) and Rittenberg OP, LLC (individually “Rittenberg OP”), both Delaware limited liability companies, as lessees and Hanahan SC Property Holdings, LLC and Charleston SC Property Holdings, LLC, each South Carolina limited liability companies, as lessors (collectively “Lessors”) for two parcels of real property, one located in Charleston County and the other located in Berkley County (collectively the “Demised Premises”), out of which Lessees were to take over and operate skilled nursing care facilities that had become distressed under the prior tenant/operator (“Master Lease”). Collectively Hanahan OP and Rittenberg OP and their parent companies, Goldner Capital Management, LLC and SC Two OP Holdings LLC, shall be referred to as “Lessees.” See Affidavit of Goldner, ¶ 1.

On Tuesday, March 28, 2023 Lessors filed a Summons and Complaint in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas alleging breach of the Master Lease for failure to pay rent and meet other financial benchmarks, in which Lessors requested additional relief as a result of the alleged breach of the Master Lease. See Complaint, Sections I.A., B., and E. At the same time Lessors also filed a Motion for Appointment of Receiver (“MAR”) that included a request for an “**EXPEDITED HEARING**”. See MAR. Lessors thereafter served their Summons and Complaint along with the MAR on Lessees on Wednesday, March 29, 2023. Thereafter, on Thursday, March 30, 2023, Lessors served a Notice of Hearing for their Motion for Appointment of Receiver (“Notice”) on Lessees. The Notice stated that the hearing on the MAR was scheduled for Thursday, April 6, 2023, less than ten (10) days from the date on which the Lessees

were served with the Notice. Samuel Goldner (“Goldner”), the CEO, founder, principal and managing member of Goldner Capital Management, LLC, though named as an individual defendant by Lessors, was never served with the Summons and Complaint, the MAR, or the Notice by Lessors.¹ Due to Lessors’ refusal to continue the hearing on the MAR from April 6, 2023, Lessees filed a Motion for Continuance on April 5, 2023 that was granted by the trial court and which initially moved the hearing on the MAR to Friday, April 7, 2023 before Judge McFaddin “reconsider[ed] the continuance motion” and ultimately moving the MAR hearing to Tuesday, April 11, 2023. See April 5-6, 2023 email correspondence between Court and Counsel.

On Monday, April 10, 2023, despite the inability of Goldner to assist in preparation of Lessees’ opposition to the MAR due to his faithful observance of Passover (Thursday, April 6 and Friday, April 7, 2023) and Sabbath (Saturday, April 8, 2023), Lessees, in response and opposition to the MAR, were nonetheless able to obtain and file the Affidavits of Goldner and the Chief Operating Officer (“CEO”) and the Chief Nursing Officer (“CNO”) for Hanahan OP and Rittenberg OP, which operated the skilled nursing homes in the Demised Premises, in conjunction with Lessees’ Motion to Dismiss, or in the alternative to Stay, and Compel

¹ The date of filing of the Summons and Complaint and the attempt to force a hearing on the MAR on April 6, 2023 in violation of Rule 6(d), SCRCP, is also noteworthy in that it appears that Lessors planned the timing of their filings to exploit the fact that Goldner, who is also a principal member of the Corporate Defendants, is a devout practicing member of the Jewish community and Passover in 2023 started at sundown on Wednesday, April 5, 2023. Passover 2023 ran from sundown on April 5, 2023 to nightfall on April 13, 2023, during which period, and including normal Sabbath observance, work, subject to certain restrictions, was only permitted on April 9, 10, and 11. Given that the observance of Passover involves extensive preparation and abstaining from most of the same activities that are avoided on the Sabbath, e.g., no driving or working during the first and last two days of Passover, Lessors’ vociferous refusal to continue the hearing on the MAR from April 6, 2023 appeared to be a conscious tactical decision to utilize Goldner’s faithful observance of Passover to handicap Goldner’s ability to meaningfully participate in the defense of and opposition to the MAR.

Arbitration. See Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration (“Motion to Dismiss”) and Exhibits thereto. Given the extremely limited opportunity to prepare and take action in opposition to the MAR and the express language of the Master Lease arbitration clause that provides that “[t]he parties hereto agree that this Section 38.20 [sic]² has been included to rapidly and inexpensively resolve any disputes between them with respect to the matters described above, and that this paragraph shall be grounds for dismissal of any court action commenced by any party with respect to a dispute arising out of such matters,” and the dispositive impact compelling arbitration would have on the request to appoint a receiver, Lessees expressly “request[ed] an order of this Court granting expedited consideration of th[e] Motion [to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration] at the same time as [Lessors]’ Motion for Appointment of Receiver.”³ See Motion to Dismiss, pp. 2-3, and Exhibit A, p. 48, Sec. 37.18; see also Apr. 11, 2023 Hr’g Tr. pp. 15:22-16:4.

Based on Lessors’ request for one (1) hour for the MAR hearing and subject to the Court “drowning in non-jury matters and motions,” the Court held a rushed and time-constrained hearing on Lessors’ MAR on Tuesday, April 11, 2023. See April 6, 2023 email from Judge McFaddin to Counsel ; see also Apr. 11, 2023 Hr’g Tr., p. 23:13-14 (“Please you all, I wish I could hear more. I really do, but I’ve got a lot to do here today.”). On April 12 Judge McFaddin

² Section 37.18 contains a scrivener’s error incorrectly referring to “this Section” as 38.20 instead of the correct section number 37.18. Further confirming the typographical nature of the incorrect identification is the fact that the Lease does not contain a Section 38.20.

³ Despite the interrelation of the arbitration and receivership question, not to mention the fact that Lessors were clearly fine with Lessees receiving less than ten (10) days’ notice of the hearing on Lessors’ MAR, the Court, though it allowed and/or received discussion and argument concerning the Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration, issued no ruling on Lessees’ Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration, which remains pending and is being held in abeyance until such time as the appeals of the receivership orders are resolved by the appellate courts.

filed an initial order appointing a receiver (“Short Order”) and requesting Lessors’ counsel to draft a formal order for the Court’s consideration. See April 6, 2023 email from Judge McFaddin to Counsel; Short Order. On April 13, 2023 Lessors’ counsel filed a proposed Order appointing a receiver for Judge McFaddin’s consideration, in response to which Lessees immediately circulated specific objections to the proposed Order, including specifically that:

Both the receivership statutes under which [Lessors] have sought appointment of a receiver and controlling South Carolina Supreme Court precedent require that whenever a receiver is appointed prior to the entry of final judgment, "there shall be inserted in the order of appointment a clause fixing the value of the property for which the bond may be given, as prescribed in § 15-65-50." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-65-60 (emphasis added); see also Truesdell v. Johnson, 144 S.C. 188, 142 S.E. 343, 348 (1928) (interpreting the provision under the previous receivership statute containing substantively identical language to Section 15-65-60 and holding that “[t]he provision for inserting a clause fixing the value of the property in the order appointing a receiver is mandatory”).

April 13, 2023 email from Lessees’ Counsel. After responding to correspondence from counsel regarding the proposed Order, Judge McFaddin ultimately entered the Order Appointing Receiver, as drafted by Lessors’ counsel, on Friday, April 14, 2023 at 11:26 a.m. (the “Receivership Order”). See April 14 email from Judge McFaddin to counsel; Receivership Order. Despite the fact that it is mandatory under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-65-50 for an order appointing a receiver to insert a clause fixing the value of the property to allow a party to obtain redelivery of the property in question, Judge McFaddin’s Receivership Order provided no such clause fixing the value of the property and instead stated only that the “Court will entertain any future request for bond by the Defendants in an amount commensurate with the facts of this case and applicable law.” Receivership Order, p. 17, ¶ 26. By way of the Receivership Order, Michael F. Flanagan (“Receiver”) was appointed as the Receiver for the Demised Premises and the personal property

utilized in the operation thereof. See Receivership Order, p. 4, ¶ 2. Later in the evening on Friday, April 14, 2023, Lessees filed their Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration seeking to have the court reconsider, alter, and amend the Order on the grounds that it contained errors of law, failed to consider, address, or make findings as to certain statutory requirements, and created manifest injustice for Lessees. See Lessees' Rule 59(e) Motion for Reconsideration, Request for Stay Pursuant to Rule 62(a), and Offer of Bond. Consistent with Rules 7(b)(2), 8(a), and 8(e)(2), SCRCF, Lessees alternatively offered a bond pursuant to Paragraph 26 of the Order, which expressly stated that "the Court will entertain any future request for bond by the Defendants in an amount commensurate with the facts of this case and applicable law," and requested that the Order be stayed pursuant to Rule 62(a). See Motion for Reconsideration, Request for Stay Pursuant to Rule 62(a), and Offer of Bond; Order p. 17, ¶ 26.

By way of Form 4 Order on April 27, 2023 ("April Form 4 Order"), Judge McFaddin denied Lessees' request for reconsideration. See April Form 4 Order. By way of this same April Form 4 Order, and despite Lessees' Motion to reconsider clearly and alternatively "request[ing] that the Court approve [Lessees]' Offer of Bond so that [Lessees] may pursue a bond and the execution and filing thereof to vacate the appointment of the receiver and direct the redelivery of the property to [Lessees] in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 15-65-60," Judge McFaddin also, baldly and without any explanation, simply denied Lessees' request for stay and offer of bond. See April Form 4 Order ("Defendants' Rule 59(e) Motion for Reconsideration, Request for Stay Pursuant to Rule 62(a), and Offer of Bond is respectfully denied.").

Lessees timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration of Judge McFaddin's denial of Lessees' request for stay and offer of bond on May 5, 2023. Despite timely filing the May 5,

2023 Motion requesting reconsideration of the April 27, 2023 Form 4 Order, a copy of the May 5, 2023 Motion was inadvertently not transmitted to Judge McFaddin via email or hardcopy as directed by Rule 59(g), thus the Motion to Reconsider remained pending.⁴ Once the oversight concerning transmission of a copy of the timely filed May 5, 2023 Motion pursuant to Rule 59(g) was brought to the attention of Lessees' Counsel on November 17, 2023, a copy of the May 5, 2023 Motion was emailed to Judge McFaddin on November 20, 2023. Judge McFaddin ultimately issued an Order on March 28, 2024 denying Lessees' May 5, 2023 Motion. The foregoing Orders of Judge McFaddin were timely appealed by Lessees on April 29, 2024.

Despite Lessees' May 5 Motion to reconsider the denial of Lessees' offer of bond and request for stay remaining pending before Judge McFaddin, and instead of raising the Rule 59(g) issue to the Court as an easy way to dispose of Lessees' pending request for reconsideration of their offer of bond and request for stay, the filing of which "removes the finality of the challenged judgment," the Receiver filed a Motion to Approve Entry Into Operations Transfer Agreement and Lease Termination Agreement (the "Lease Termination Motion") on August 3, 2023, less than One Hundred (100) days after the creation of the receivership. Se. Hous. Found. v. Smith, 380 S.C. 621, 640, 670 S.E.2d 680, 690 (Ct. App. 2008). As with MAR, the Lease Termination Motion also urged the Court to expedite the hearing thereon. See Lease Termination Motion. The Lease Termination Motion was heard before Judge Young on August 23, 2023. Prior to the hearing on the Lease Termination Motion, Lessees did not file a memorandum of law in opposition to the Lease Termination Motion, however, at the hearing that was held by WebEx,

⁴ Undersigned counsel believed, apparently mistakenly, that with the advent of e-filing that a copy of a motion to reconsider a judge's ruling was automatically sent to the ruling judge by the clerk's office upon acceptance of the filing.

Lessees' counsel argued in opposition to the Lease Termination Motion, orally raising each of the points subsequently reduced to writing in Lessees' Motion to Reconsider. See Aug. 23, 2023 Hr'g Tr. pp. 5:22-6:1; 7:24-8:5; 8:21-25; 9:3-18; Aug. 30, 2023 Motion to Reconsider. Specifically, Lessees' counsel argued that the Receiver's Lease Termination Motion was premature because Lessors' claims to right of possession of the Demised Premises are disputed and no trial or determination of the merits of the parties' claims and defenses has been had or made, and that, by granting the motion to terminate the Lease and authorizing the transfer of the possession and operation of the Demised Premises to a new tenant, the Court was irrevocably disturbing the status quo. In discussing the premature nature of the Receiver's Lease Termination Motion, Lessees' counsel also specifically directed the Court's attention to several factors commonly considered by courts passing on motions to disturb the status quo of a receivership prior to a trial and determination of the merits of a case. Despite the argument of Lessees' counsel, Judge Young granted the Lease Termination Motion from the bench and entered a formal order to that same effect shortly thereafter on August 23, 2023. See Aug. 23, 2023 Order of Judge Young.

Lessees' counsel timely filed a Motion to reconsider or in the alternative to stay the August 23, 2023 Order pursuant to Rule 62(a), SCRCP, on August 30, 2023. See Aug. 30, 2023 Motion to Reconsider. Despite the fact that Lessees' counsel specifically opposed the granting of the Lease Termination Motion during the motion hearing on the grounds that it was premature and would irrevocably alter the status quo before any trial or determination of the merits of the parties' claims and defenses, Judge Young summarily rejected Lessees' Motion to reconsider on the grounds that "[a] party cannot use Rule 59(e) to present to the court an issue the party could

have raised prior to judgment but did not.” See Sep. 8, 2023 Order (alteration in original; citation omitted). Lessees’ timely appealed Judge Young’s August 23 and September 8 Orders on September 13, 2023.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The parties to this dispute signed a commercial Master Lease for two properties, including the Demised Premises and the personal property used therein and about, in South Carolina that the Lessors own, in which the Lessees’ have a leasehold interest, and at which the Lessees, through their Operating Entity, Vivant Healthcare, operated skilled nursing care facility businesses. See Master Lease; see also Exhibit E to Motion to Dismiss. Lessors allege that Lessees have breached the Master Lease governing the relationships between the parties. See generally Compl. The Master Lease, as negotiated and agreed to by Lessors and Lessees, expressly contains an arbitration provision in Section 37.18 calling for all disputes arising out of or in connection with the Master Lease to be submitted to final and binding arbitration before the Chicago Rabbinical Council (the "Beit Din"). See Master Lease, p. 48, Sec. 37.18. Moreover, Section 37.18, as agreed to by and between Lessors and Lessees, further directs that the binding arbitration clause “has been included to rapidly and inexpensively resolve any disputes between [the parties] with respect to the matters described above, and that this paragraph shall be grounds for dismissal of any court action commenced by any party with respect to a dispute arising out of such matters.” Id. Thus, although Lessees have not filed an answer in the underlying action, they nonetheless expressly deny Lessors allegations of breach of lease, insolvency, and that the Demised Premises, or their rents and profits, are in danger of being lost or materially injured or impaired.

Disputes have arisen among the Lessors and Lessees regarding primarily financial issues arising out of the Master Lease. Despite the typical landlord-tenant/rent dispute nature of the dispute between the Lessors and Lessees, the Lessors have sought to dishonor and evade the heavily negotiated and agreed upon dispute-resolution procedures in the Master Lease by filing a state court action on the eve of Passover, a multi-day religious holiday, during which observant Jews are specifically prohibited from working, seeking the emergency appointment of a receiver on the grounds of conclusory allegations regarding operational safety issues that were strongly rebutted in the sworn Affidavits of Goldner, and the CEO and CNO of Lessees' Operating Entity. See Affidavits of Goldner, Whimpey, and Francois. The filing and pursuit of this lawsuit in contravention of the terms of the Master Lease appear to be an attempted end-run to secure the termination of Appellants' leasehold rights without requiring Lessors to first satisfy their burden of proof at a trial on the merits of Lessors' breach of contract claims, all at great prejudice to Lessees' due process rights and in violation of the express terms of the Master Lease regarding dispute resolution. See Affidavit of Goldner, ¶¶ 5-9; Master Lease p. 48, Sec. 38.17. Contrary to Lessors' allegations, Appellants have significantly improved each of the properties since commencement of the Master Lease in June 2021, and were still in the process of making further improvements to the physical structures as well as the level of care provided to residents, and the financial performance of the properties up to the appointment of the receiver. See Affidavit of Goldner, ¶¶ 5-9; Affidavit of Whimpey, ¶¶ 3-8, 12; Affidavit of Francois, ¶¶ 3-5. While there have been some financial issues with the properties resulting in dispute between the Lessors and Lessees regarding rent owed under the Master Lease, many of the issues raised by Lessors in the Complaint and MAR relating to the renovations and citations for code violations at the subject

properties arise from the Lessors' own refusal to make available monies set aside in the Master Lease for capital expenditures to be paid by Lessors. Consequently, Lessees distinctly deny that they have breached the Master Lease and further maintain that it is Lessors who are breaching their obligations under the Master Lease by, inter alia, not providing proper capital expenditure funding, by refusing to provide access to financial information to which Lessees are entitled, by not providing proper notice of various actions taken by Lessors' representatives, and by completely disregarding the dispute resolution provisions that the parties negotiated, agreed to, and by which they are bound, in the Master Lease.

Due to the pendency of Lessees' Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration, which was filed seeking to enforce the parties' mutually agreed upon dispute resolution provisions provided for in the Master Lease, Lessees have yet to file an answer in the underlying action and, accordingly, Lessors action alleging breach of lease has not progressed past the filing of Lessors' Complaint.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appointment of a receiver is fundamentally an action in equity. See Wadsworth Industries, Inc. v. Westgate Knitting, Inc., 264 S.C. 106, 109, 212 S.E.2d 571, 572 (1975). In its review of an action in equity, the appellate court has jurisdiction to find facts and rule upon issues of law in accordance with its own views of the preponderance of the evidence. See Townes Assoc., Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976).

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-65-10(1) establishes the circumstances under which a court may make a prejudgment appointment of a receiver.

A receiver may be appointed by a judge of the circuit court, either in or out of court:

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