RECEIVED

Sep 12 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2023-CP-10-01512
Appellate Case No. 2023-001494

Charleston SC Property Holdings, LLC, Hanahan SC Property Holdings, LLC, and Michael Flanagan, Receiver.....Respondents,

v.

Rittenberg OP, LLC, Hanahan OP, LLC, Goldner Capital Management, LLC, SC Two OP Holdings, LLC, and Samuel Goldner.....Appellants.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT
MICHAEL FLANAGAN, RECEIVER**

Michael H. Weaver (SC Bar # 72350)
ROGERS TOWNSEND LLC
1221 Main Street, 14th Floor (29201)

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

The Appellants’ failure to raise a contemporaneous objection to the Lease Termination Motion on the grounds set forth in the Appellants’ second issue on appeal, precludes review by this Court on appeal. *See Washington v. Whitaker*, 317 S.C. 108, 114, 451 S.E.2d 894, 898 (1994); *see also Zaman v. S.C. Board of Medical Examiners*, 305 SC 281, 284, 408 S.E.2d 213, 215 (1991)

(declining to address appellants' issue on appeal because it was not supported in the transcript of record).

Second, assuming *arguendo* that the Appellants properly preserved their objection which serves as the basis for the second issue on appeal, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in entering the Lease Termination Order because the factors set forth in the second issue on appeal and the cases Appellants cite to in support are (1) not controlling law and (2) are used when a third party creditor seeks to lift a stay of action against the receivership estate rather than factors considered by courts when reviewing actions of a court-appointed receiver.

As noted above, none of the cases cited by Appellants in their Initial Brief in support of their proposition that the trial court should have considered the three factors set forth in the second issue on appeal have any precedential effect. Each of the cited cases involve federal court receiverships from other jurisdictions. *See, e.g., U.S. v. ESIC Capital, Inc.*, 675 F. Supp. 1462 (D. Md. 1987) (involving federal court receivership in the United States District Court for the District of Maryland in which the Small Business Administration was appointed as receiver); *S.E.C. v. Wencke*, 742 F.2d 1230 (9th Cir. 1984) (involving federal court receivership ordered in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California); *S.E.C. v. Stanford Int'l Bank Ltd.*, 424 Fed. Appx. 338 (5th Cir. 2011) (involving federal court receivership ordered in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas involving a Ponzi scheme); *S.E.C. v. Universal Fin.*, 760 F.2d 1034 (9th Cir. 1985) (involving federal court receivership ordered in the United States District Court for the Central District of California).

Moreover, the factors considered by the courts in the cases cited to in the Appellants' Initial Brief are analyzed in the context of a third party creditor's request to lift the stay to proceed against receivership estate assets. These factors were not analyzed or relied upon by courts when

determining whether to approve action proposed or relief requested by a court-appointed receiver. For instance, in *U.S. v ESIC Capital, Inc.* – one of the primary cases Appellants rely on in support of the second issue on appeal – the court noted that when considering a motion to vacate a receivership stay, “a district court must consider four factors: (1) comparing the interests of the *receiver* and the *moving party* by (2) determining whether continuance of the stay will preserve the status quo, or whether the *moving party* will suffer substantial injury if not permitted to proceed; (3) examining the merit of the *moving party*’s underlying claim; (4) assessing the time in the receivership’s life at which the motion to lift stay is made.” *U.S. v. ESIC Capital, Inc.*, 675 F. Supp. 1462 (D. Md. 1987) (emphasis added). Because the three-factor test that the Appellants request that this Court apply is not applicable to the relief requested in the Lease Termination Motion, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it appropriately disregarded these non-binding and inapplicable factors and entered the Lease Termination Order.

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Lease Termination Order should be affirmed.

III. The Appeal should be dismissed because it involves an appeal of a non-final, interlocutory order that does not fit within any of the exceptions set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330.

The Court may affirm the trial court’s Lease Termination Order “upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.” Rule 220(c), SCACR; *see also I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 722 (1999) (“Under the present rules [of appellate practice], a respondent – the ‘winner’ in the lower court – may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court’s ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court.”).

The Lease Termination Order is a non-final, interlocutory order. A non-final, interlocutory order is one in which “some further act...must be done by the court prior to a determination of the rights of the parties.” *Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hosp. Auth. v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control*, 387 S.C. 265, 267, 692 S.E.2d 894 (2010). Non-final or interlocutory orders are not immediately appealable unless a statutory exception applies. *See Baldwin Construction Co. v. Graham*, 357 S.C. 227, 230, 593 S.E.2d 146, 147 (2004); *Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hosp. Auth.* 387 S.C. at 266, 692 S.E.2d at 894 (the right to appeal an order “arises from and is controlled by statutory law”); *Watson v. Underwood*, 407 S.C. 443, 457, 756 S.E.2d 155, 163 (Ct. App. 2014) (ordinarily, an appeal may not be pursued until “after a party has obtained a final judgment”). It is not clear to the Receiver that any of the four statutory exceptions set forth in § 14-3-330 are applicable to the present Appeal.

South Carolina law provides that appellate courts have jurisdiction to immediately review the following:

- (1) Any intermediate judgment, order or decree in a law case involving the merits in actions commenced in the court of common pleas...and final judgment in such actions; provided, that if no appeal be taken until final judgment is entered the court may upon appeal from such final judgment review any intermediate order or decree necessarily affecting the judgment not before appealed from;
- (2) An order affecting a substantial right made in an action when such order (a) in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action...;
- (3) A final order affecting a substantial right made in any special proceeding or upon a summary application in any action after judgment; and
- (4) An interlocutory order or decree in a court of common pleas...granting, continuing, modifying, or refusing the appointment of a receiver.

S.C. CODE ANN. § 14-3-330 (Supp.2015). Although § 14-3-330 states that it applies to law cases, courts have “recognized it as applicable in equity cases as well.” *Kriti Ripley, LLC v. Emerald Investments, LLC*, 404 S.C. 367, 379, 746 S.E.2d 26, 32 (2013).

The exception set forth in § 14-3-330(1) requires, among other things, an order “involving the merits.” The South Carolina Supreme Court has declared that an order “involving the merits” is one that “must *finally determine* some substantial matter forming the whole or a part of some cause of action or defense.” *Mid-State Distributors, Inc. v. Century Importers, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 330, 334, 426 S.E.2d 777, 780 (1993) (emphasis added). Although the Receiver readily acknowledges that the testimony submitted into evidence at the August 2023 Hearing and reviewed by the trial court supported the Receiver’s contention that the monthly rent for the Facilities was past due and that the arrearage exceeded more than \$4 million, the Lease Termination Order does not contain any final determination of any matter forming the whole or part of any parties’ cause of action or defense thereto. *See generally Lease Termination Order*, 1-2; *see also Flanagan Affidavit*, ¶¶ 15-16; *August 23, 2023 Hearing Transcript*, p.6, Lines 9-11 (“These facilities are not operating profitably, rent continues to accrue. There’s currently more than \$4 million of past due rent, which is detailed in Exhibit A.”); p.6, Lines 18-21 (“[T]he reality of it is every day that goes by, the facilities get further in the hole. The receivership estate gets further in the hole.”). Furthermore, as set forth in Appellants’ Initial Brief, one of the primary bases of Appellants’ challenge to the Lease Termination Order is that the Plaintiffs had not even proven the merits of their claims. *See Appellants’ Initial Brief*, p.15 (noting, “the tenant’s right to possession of the property... cannot be revoked until there has been a final determination of all issues at trial” and “Lessors have not been required to prove the merits of their claims....”). Consequently, the Receiver believes that

the exception set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(1) – which requires an order “involving the merits of actions” – is not applicable to this Appeal.

A review of the Lease Termination Order also reveals that it did not determine the action and prevent a subsequent judgment from being entered which could be appealed and did not discontinue the action for the exception set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2) to apply. *See generally, Lease Termination Order*, 1-2 (the text of which does not address the issues complained of in the Plaintiffs’ Complaint). The Defendants have yet to file their Answer to the Complaint, and the trial court has yet to issue a final judgment from which a subsequent appeal could be filed. Therefore, the Receiver contends that the exception set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2) is inapplicable to this Appeal.

Next, for the exception set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(3) to be applicable, the statute requires, among other things, that the order being appealed from be a final order as opposed to an interlocutory one. To determine whether an order is final or interlocutory, the South Carolina Supreme Court looks to determine “[i]f there is some further act which must be done by the court prior to a determination of the rights of the parties.” *Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hosp. Auth.*, 387 S.C. at 267, 692 S.E.2d at 894. As noted by Appellants in their Initial Brief, “this case has not...progressed beyond the filing of Lessors’ Complaint [and] no discovery has been conducted.” *Appellants’ Initial Brief*, p.15. Consequently, the Receiver contends that further action will be required by the trial court before there can be a determination of all of the rights of the parties to this litigation and, therefore, the exception set forth in § 14-3-330(3) is inapplicable.

The Receiver concedes that the fourth and final exception found in § 14-3-330 clearly implicates certain orders involving receiverships. However, the statute specifies that only interlocutory orders “granting, continuing, modifying, or refusing the appointment of a receiver”

are immediately appealable. The Lease Termination Order did not grant the appointment of the Receiver – instead, the Order Appointing Receiver did. As discussed herein, the Order Appointing Receiver was not appealed timely and is now the law of the case. In addition, the Order Appointing Receiver granted the Receiver “full authority and discretion to handle all tenancy issues, including, without limitation, *terminating leases....*” and instructed the Receiver to “take full possession of the Facilities” and “retain custody of same until further order.” *Order Appointing Receiver*, p.7, p.10 (emphasis added). The Lease Termination Order (which authorized termination of the Master Lease and transfer of the Facilities’ operations) was entered in furtherance of the Order Appointing Receiver and approved the Receiver’s actions which were consistent with the express language of the Order Appointing Receiver. The Lease Termination Order did not grant, continue, modify or refuse the Receiver’s appointment. Therefore, the statutorily defined exception found in § 14-3-330(4) is inapplicable and the Lease Termination Order is not appealable.

Because the Lease Termination Order is an interlocutory order that does not fit within any of the statutorily defined exceptions found in § 14-3-330, the Appeal should be dismissed.

IV. The Appeal should be dismissed because intervening events since entry of the Lease Termination Order have rendered it moot.

Appellate courts “will not pass on moot and academic questions or make an adjudication where there remains no actual controversy. A moot case exists where a judgment rendered by the court will have no practical legal effect upon an existing controversy because an intervening event renders any grant of effectual relief impossible for the reviewing court.” *Protopapas v. Wall, Templeton & Haldrup, P.A.*, 442 S.C. 217, 227, 898 S.E.2d 150, 155 (Ct. App. 2023).

By and through the Appeal, Appellants request that the Court reverse the trial court’s Lease Termination Order “with instruction for the trial court to direct the 1) the reestablishment of the

status quo as it existed at the time the receivership was originally approved, and 2) the preservation of the status quo...until such time as the merits of the parties' underlying claims and defenses are decided...." *Appellants' Initial Brief*, p.28. The relief the Appellants seek is now moot due to intervening events. No stay of the Lease Termination Order was in effect and, for the reasons set forth in the Lease Termination Motion and on the record at the August 2023 Hearing, the Master Lease was terminated and transfer of operations of the Facilities to the New Operator went effective at 12:01 a.m. on September 1, 2023. *See* Rule 62(a), SCRC ("Unless otherwise ordered by the court, an interlocutory...judgment...in a receivership action...shall not be stayed during the period after its entry and until an appeal is taken or during the pendency of an appeal."); *see also Report of Consummation of Operations Transfer Agreements and Lease Termination Agreement*, pp. 2-3.

The Appellants have not made clear how this Court could grant the relief they are seeking which would require termination of the New Operator's leasehold rights in and to the Facilities. Furthermore, the Appellants have not discussed or mentioned how the relief they seek would impact the Facilities' 173 former residents who require varying levels of ongoing skilled care or the 230 former employees who are now employed by the New Operator (and who have been employed by the New Operator for more than a year now). *See generally Utley v. S.W. Wilson & Sons*, 205 S.C. 469, 473, 32 S.E.2d 654, 655 (1944) ("The receiver, respondent in the appeal, takes the sound position that the questions which appellant attempts to present are moot because the property has passed into the hands of another purchaser under a sale ordered by the Court...with the result that appellant's alleged option to purchase...is now impossible of performance by respondent."); *but see Wachesaw Plantation E. Cmty. Servs. Ass'n v. Alexander*, 414 S.C. 355, 359-360, 778 S.E.2d 898, 900-901 (2015) (noting in the context of an appeal involving the issuance

of a master's deed that "despite the master-in-equity's issuance of a deed, an appellate court may reach the merits of the appeal" and also noting three general exceptions to the mootness doctrine in the civil context including when "a decision by the trial court may affect future events, or have collateral consequences for the parties...even though the appellate court cannot give effective relief in the present case.").

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Appeal is now moot and should be dismissed.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing and any additional sustaining grounds appearing in the record, Respondent respectfully requests that the Court affirm Judge Young's Lease Termination Order entered on August 23, 2023 for the reasons set forth in Arguments I and II or, alternatively, dismiss the Appeal for the reasons set forth in Arguments III and IV.